MECHANOTRANSDUCTION AT CELL-MATRIX AND CELL-CELL CONTACTS

Christopher S. Chen,¹ John Tan,¹ and Joe Tien²

¹Department of Biomedical Engineering, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland 21205; email: cchen@bme.jhu.edu ²Department of Biomedical Engineering, Boston University, Boston, Massachusetts 02215; email: jtien@bu.edu

Key Words integrins, cadherins, focal adhesion, adherens junction, extracellular matrix, actin, myosin, cytoskeleton, mechanical force, tension

Abstract Mechanical forces play an important role in the organization, growth, maturation, and function of living tissues. At the cellular level, many of the biological responses to external forces originate at two types of specialized microscale structures: focal adhesions that link cells to their surrounding extracellular matrix and adherens junctions that link adjacent cells. Transmission of forces from outside the cell through cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts appears to control the maturation or disassembly of these adhesions and initiates intracellular signaling cascades that ultimately alter many cellular behaviors. In response to externally applied forces, cells actively rearrange the organization and contractile activity of the cytoskeleton and redistribute their intracellular forces. Recent studies suggest that the localized concentration of these cytoskeletal tensions at adhesions is also a major mediator of mechanical signaling. This review summarizes the role of mechanical forces in the formation, stabilization, and dissociation of focal adhesions and adherens junctions and outlines how integration of signals from these adhesions over the entire cell body affects how a cell responds to its mechanical environment. This review also describes advanced optical, lithographic, and computational techniques for the study of mechanotransduction.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	276
TECHNIQUES TO STUDY MECHANOTRANSDUCTION	277
Measurement of Forces Exerted by Cells	278
Application of Localized Forces to Cells	280
Confinement of Cell-Matrix and Cell-Cell Contacts	282
MECHANOTRANSDUCTION AT CELL-MATRIX CONTACTS	283
Structure of Cell-Matrix Adhesions	283
Forces that Regulate Assembly of Focal Adhesions	283
Forces that Regulate Signaling at Focal Adhesions	286
Integrated Forces Alter Cell Behavior	288

MECHANOTRANSDUCTION AT CELL-CELL CONTACTS	290
Similarities Between Focal Adhesions and Adherens Junctions	290
Does Force Regulate Assembly and Signaling at Adherens Junctions?	291
Crosstalk Between Focal Adhesions and Adherens Junctions	292
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	293

INTRODUCTION

To perform as single integrated machines, multicellular organisms have evolved complex mechanisms to communicate signals throughout their bodies. One principal mechanism for this global coordination is the transmission of mechanical forces through viscoelastic tissues, cells, and fluids (1-3). Whether externally applied or internally generated, these forces play essential roles in the development of proper mammalian physiology and in the response of an organism to injury: Gravitational compressive forces control the deposition of bone; isotonic tension causes muscles to grow (2, 4). Normal hydrostatic pressure in blood vessels promotes the maturation of vascular smooth muscle, whereas hypertensive pressure causes the walls of arteries to thicken (5). Shear stresses that arise from the flow of blood help to prevent activation of coagulation cascades and maintain endothelium in an anti-inflammatory and antiatherogenic state (6, 7). Contractile forces generated by endothelial cells regulate vascular permeability; those generated by myofibroblasts in a wound reduce the area of granulation tissue over time (8-10).

Although it is clear that common physiological processes expose cells to a variety of mechanical stimuli, how cells sense and integrate these forces at the molecular level to produce coordinated behaviors is an open question. Cellular structures are subjected to stresses of 0.01–0.1 atm in vivo, equivalent to 1–10 nN per cell contact. Even small changes in the magnitudes or distribution of these forces may lead to compensatory remodeling of cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts and may initiate a variety of cell behaviors. For instance, a slight increase in time-averaged shear stress in an artery induces proliferation of vascular cells and widening of the artery until the shear stress renormalizes to (nearly) its initial value (11, 12).

Recently, it has become clear that cultured cells in vitro possess specific mechanisms to sense and generate mechanical forces and that mechanical signals provide a fundamental means for cells to respond to their microenvironment (13–23); whether the same mechanisms operate in vivo within multicellular organisms is currently under intense study (24, 25). Mechanotransduction, or the translation of mechanical signals into biochemical ones that affect cell function, appears to occur primarily at the surface of a cell in vitro (Figure 1). In mesenchymal cells that are grown on two- or three-dimensional scaffolds of the extracellular matrix (ECM), mechanotransduction occurs at specialized structures that link cells to the ECM, such as the focal adhesions (FAs) that develop in cells cultured on a rigid substrate (13, 26). In epithelial cells, which are bound to the ECM basally and surrounded by neighboring cells laterally, mechanotransduction also occurs at cell-cell junctions called adherens junctions (AJs) (27–29). In both types of cells and in blood-borne cells, shear and hydrostatic stresses from surrounding fluid may provide yet another avenue for mechanical signaling (30–32).

Cells adhere to the ECM and to each other through specific classes of transmembrane adhesion receptors (33–35). These receptors bind to ligand extracellularly and provide an anchor to the intracellular cytoskeleton via cytoplasmic scaffolding proteins (29, 36). Linkages between external cellular contacts, adhesion receptors, and cytoskeleton provide a means for bidirectional communication between the inside and outside of a cell. Dynamic changes in adhesions and cytoskeletal systems may thus play a critical role in regulating mechanotransduction (37).

The cellular response to mechanical forces is inherently coupled to the internal organization of the cytoskeleton and to adhesion to surrounding cells and the ECM. Structural cues such as anisotropy or topography of the ECM or location of cell-cell contact can cause a cell to reorient its body, change its shape, or alter its functional state (38–40). Similarly, changes in the shape and internal organization of cells alter how cells adhere to their surroundings and affect their function (41–43). Application or removal of a gross external load from a cell causes the cell to actively adapt its adhesions and cytoskeleton and transduce the altered mechanical environment into biochemical signals (44).

This review focuses on the mechanical and biochemical properties of cell adhesions and how these adhesions might be involved in the ability of cells to transduce structural and mechanical signals into adaptive behaviors. First, we describe recent advances in techniques used for the study of mechanotransduction. Second, we examine the responses of single-cell-ECM and cell-cell adhesions to mechanical force, as well as the integration of mechanical signals over an entire cell, to produce observable behaviors. It is important to note, however, that not all forms of mechanotransduction take place at adhesions. For instance, shear stresses experienced by the endothelium are not only transmitted through cell bodies to basal adhesions but also appear to be directly transduced through receptors located within the apical membrane (31). In some cases, a single protein may act as a mechanosensor. For example, stretch-activated ion channels appear to change conductivity in response to stresses applied to the plasma membrane (45). For further details on non-adhesion-based mechanotransduction, we refer the reader to several recent reviews (31, 46, 47).

TECHNIQUES TO STUDY MECHANOTRANSDUCTION

Studies of mechanotransduction examine how mechanical forces influence intracellular signaling and subsequent behaviors of cells. Typically, these studies perturb the mechanical state of a cell by varying the degree to which a cell is spread (48–52), the rigidity of the substrate to which a cell adheres (22, 53, 54), or the ability of a cell to generate intracellular forces (55). Measurements in these studies include observation of the assembly (or lack of assembly) of adhesions (19, 56, 57), biochemical analyses of proteins known to interact with adhesion complexes (58, 59), quantification of gross cell behaviors (proliferation, apoptosis, migration, or differentiation) (41, 60–62), and measurements of forces exerted by cells (15, 18, 19, 63).

Early experiments exposed cells to spatially uniform mechanical environments and measured the averaged response of cells to these stimuli. To control the degree of cell spreading, cells were cultured on substrates coated with different densities of ECM proteins (49); the denser the adsorbed layer, the better the cell spread. To control the rigidity of the substrate, cells were cultured on thin flexible sheets of polymer, or in three-dimensional gels of ECM (usually collagen) that were crosslinked for different times (53, 54, 64). To control the ability of a cell to generate contractile forces, cells were cultured in the presence of agents that destabilized or enhanced cytoskeletal filaments throughout the entire cell (55). Analyses of cell adhesions and downstream signaling relied on several standard biological techniques, including immunofluorescence, Western blotting, and assays for proliferation and apoptosis.

Although the results of these experiments demonstrated a strong correlation between mechanical forces and changes in cell behaviors, these experiments could not prove a causal relationship between the two. The realization that cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts may be the primary sites of mechanotransduction has motivated the development of techniques to control or record the mechanical state of a cell with the spatial resolution of a single cell contact ($\sim 1 \mu$ m). These techniques—coupled with advanced optical methods for probing a cell, such as the use of fluorescent fusion proteins that target to adhesions (56) and the use of correlational microscopy to determine how adhesions evolve over time (56, 57)—have begun to elucidate the causal relationships between mechanical forces and intracellular signaling. Three recent developments have proven to be invaluable in the study of mechanotransduction: (*a*) measurements of the distribution of mechanical stresses exerted by a cell with subcellular resolution, (*b*) application of force locally to only a portion of the cell membrane, and (*c*) confinement of the areas at which a cell can exert mechanical force.

Measurement of Forces Exerted by Cells

Cells exert nanonewton-scale contractile forces against adhesive structures that couple the cell to its external environment (20). In vitro studies of these minute forces have relied on the culture of cells on soft materials such as uniformly cross-linked hydrogels or flexible rubber membranes, where the degree of cross-linking controls mechanical compliance (Figure 2A) (14, 22, 53, 65–67). Initial experiments with thin membranes demonstrated conclusively that cells exerted contractile forces (also referred to as tension or traction forces). Contractile forces generated by cells deformed rubber membranes to form microscopic wrinkles that were easily observed by phase-contrast microscopy (53). Subsequent studies have

focused on dynamic changes in the magnitude and direction of forces exerted by cells and how these forces correlate with the shapes of cells during cytokinesis and cell migration (65, 66).

Quantitation of force exerted by cells on thin membranes consisted of counting the number of wrinkles near cell bodies, measuring the lengths of these wrinkles, and using these values to calculate the total force exerted on the membrane (66). Because membranes deformed grossly in these studies, it was difficult, if not impossible, to calculate the force exerted locally by cells with subcellular resolution. Improvements on this setup led to the development of a method called traction force microscopy to quantify force exerted by cell (Figure 2*B*) (68). Here, cells are plated onto a membrane that is pre-stressed to prevent wrinkling of its surface. Force that is generated by the cells deforms the membrane only slightly; fiduciary markers, such as spherical beads embedded within the membrane, aid in measurement of local displacements. Because the substrate deforms only within a plane, is basically incompressible (i.e., has a Poisson's ratio of 0.5) and is linearly elastic, the stress field $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{r})$ and displacement field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}')$ are related by a Fredholm integral equation of the first kind:

$$u_i(r) = \int dr' G_{ij}(r - r') F_j(r'),$$
(1)

where $\mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}')$ is the tensorial Green's function of the elastic isotropic halfspace and represents the displacement at \mathbf{r} that results from the application of a point force at \mathbf{r}' . For instance, the displacement at \mathbf{r} that results from a single point force at \mathbf{r}' is given by Equations 2 and 3:

$$u_x(r) = G_{xx}(r - r')F_x(r') + G_{xy}(r - r')F_y(r')$$
(2)

$$u_{y}(r) = G_{yx}(r - r')F_{x}(r') + G_{yy}(r - r')F_{y}(r')$$
(3)

Given a displacement field **u** measured from the movement of embedded beads, the challenge in traction force microscopy is to invert Equation 1 to obtain the stress field **F**. Because the integral operation is a smoothing operation, inversion does not always lead to a unique solution (71). As with any inversion operation, regularization schemes are often used to provide additional information to restrict the set of possible solutions (72); examples of commonly used guides include the assumption that force can be exerted only at focal adhesions and that only the least complex solution is used (68). The complete description of computational methods to calculate force and the derivation of the Green's function have been well described (73).

The recent use of microfabricated regular arrays of fluorescent particles as markers has allowed better tracking of the deformation field (Figure 2*C*) (15); algorithms for inversion of Equation 1 have also improved and no longer require the continual use of supercomputers. The computation is still sufficiently intensive, which makes the analysis of forces exerted by large populations of cells impractical. Moreover, because the displacement of discrete markers cannot fully describe the

deformation of a continuous surface, finding a unique solution of force can be achieved only by placing constraints on the deformation field, on the nature of the cellular forces, or on the location of adhesions (67).

These limitations are inherent to the use of flat, continuous substrates where a deformation at one location can propagate to another part. Alternatives to these substrates for measurement of force initially used a microfabricated device containing a horizontally mounted cantilever that deflected along one axis as individual cells migrated across it (Figure 2D) (18). Because the moveable unit in these devices (the cantilever) is mechanically decoupled from its surroundings, lateral deflections of the cantilever result only from local forces exerted on it; measurements of these deflections give a direct value for the local force generated at the cell surface. As originally designed, however, the geometry of the cantilever (with the flexible arm in the same plane as the displacement) restricted the measurement of force to one axis and a few locations (18).

We anticipated that, by altering the design of the device so that the arm of the cantilever did not reside in the same plane as the displacement, it would be possible to place multiple cantilevers in a single device and thus to measure local forces across the entire body of a cell (Figure 2E). In practice, we used lithographic techniques to mold arrays of closely spaced vertical cantilevers (i.e., microneedles or posts) in a silicone elastomer; cells attached and spread across the tips of multiple posts and bent the posts as the cells probed the tips (63). For small deflections, the posts behave like simple springs so that their deflections are directly proportional to the local forces applied by the attached cell. This behavior is described for beams composed of linearly elastic material under pure bending by Equation 4,

$$\mathbf{F} = \left(\frac{3\mathrm{EI}}{\mathrm{L}^3}\right)\delta,\tag{4}$$

where F, E, I, L, and δ are the bending force, Young's modulus, moment of inertia, length, and resulting deflection of the post, respectively (74). Because each post moves independently of its neighbors, its deflection directly reports the direction and magnitude of the local cell-generated force without the need for a priori assumptions.

Application of Localized Forces to Cells

In the previously described methods, the substrate passively responds to forces exerted by the cultured cell. Often, however, it is useful to be able to deliberately expose a cell to external mechanical force and then observe its response (Figure 3). The first studies in this area used stretchable membranes to impart a uniform strain (and, by extrapolation, a uniform stress) to cells (75). As with techniques for the measurement of force, methods for the application of force have gradually evolved beyond the use of spatially homogeneous substrates; recent advances have enabled the exposure of selected portions of a cell to a controlled stress.



Figure 3 Techniques to apply external forces to cells: (*A*) Movement of optically trapped microbeads on the cell surface measures both the externally imposed force and the reaction generated by the cell. Reproduced with permission from Reference 20. (*B*) Deformation of the cell membrane by a micropipette imparts a gross force to the area of contact. Reproduced with permission from Reference 16.

Many of these advances rely on the use of micrometer-sized beads that can be manipulated by an external electromagnetic field (Figure 3A) (20, 21, 76). In these studies, beads are coated with ECM proteins and are allowed to passively settle onto cells or are placed directly on the cell membrane. Application of a magnetic field to an attached paramagnetic bead forces the bead to align in the direction of the magnetic field; this technique generates a twisting stress that rotates the cell membrane (21). Application of a non-uniform electromagnetic field, such as that resulting from focusing light through an optical lens, to an attached bead whose index of refraction differs from that of its surroundings attracts the bead to the regions of highest light intensity; this technique (known as optical tweezers) generates a lateral stress that pulls and pushes the cell membrane (77). Equations to describe the force exerted on a bead in these magnetic setups or optical tweezers are well known and lead to straightforward calculations of force exerted on attached beads. Because these techniques are compatible with optical microscopy, it is possible to simultaneously exert force on the bead and observe whether the bead can escape from its magnetic alignment or optical trap. The degrees to which beads resist their applied forces can thus give a direct measurement of the force exerted by the cell on the beads in response to the force exerted on the cell by the beads.

Other techniques to impart a localized force to cells use the controlled movement of an attached micropipette across the surface of a cell (Figure 3B) (16, 78). These techniques may consist of (a) translating a rigid tip a defined distance and using simplifying assumptions of the mechanical properties of the cell to calculate the applied force (16), (b) translating a flexible cantilever across the cell and calculating the applied force from Equation 4, and (c) translating a rigid tip against the underlying substrate of a cell to increase or decrease the local stiffness of a gel or membrane (78). Here, the determination of exerted force is not as exact as with magnetic or optical forces, but these tip-based methods are often favored because they are easily implemented with nothing more than a translation stage and optical microscope.

Confinement of Cell-Matrix and Cell-Cell Contacts

A complementary set of techniques controls where cells can exert force with subcellular resolution (Figure 4). These techniques all rely on the use of nonadhesive surfaces to restrict the regions to which a cell can adhere and exert force (79). In early studies, cells were cultured on thin films of palladium that were patterned by evaporation through a fine metal mask (mesh size $\sim 100 \,\mu$ m) on a nonadhesive substrate (51, 52). Cells were restricted to the islands of metal and adjusted their shapes to the shapes of the islands. Subsequently, many strategies to create more complex patterns by using lithographic printing techniques have been developed (79a, 79b), one of which involves contact printing of small organothiols onto a thin film of gold defines adhesive and nonadhesive regions (Figure 4A) (41, 80–82). Micro-contact printing of these features is not limited to discrete adhesive islands (in contrast to surfaces made by evaporation through a mask) and can be readily applied to nonplanar substrates (81). Cells cultured on these patterned surfaces adhere selectively to the adhesive regions; because the stamp used for printing is made by microlithography, the definition of adhesive surfaces takes place with sub 100-nm



Figure 4 Techniques to confine the locations of cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts: (*A*) Micro-contact printing of adhesive and nonadhesive regions on a flat surface controls the locations of cell-matrix contacts. (*B*) Micromolding of a nonadhesive gel further confines the locations of cell-cell contacts. The gel in (*B*), which is several micrometers thick, physically restricts the formation of cell-cell contacts, whereas the nanometer-thick printed regions in (*A*) do not.

resolution and allows a single cell to attach to multiple, discrete micrometer-scale patches.

To control where cells can contact neighboring cells, we have also used lithographic techniques to mold thin nonadhesive gels of agarose into microscale meshes (Figure 4*B*) (60, 83). The molded agarose forms walls that block cells from making contact with their neighbors. Cells cultured through a suitably patterned mesh thus can adhere to the ECM and other cells in defined locations.

The development of techniques to measure force exerted by cells, to expose cells to defined forces, and to localize where cells exert force, all with subcellular resolution, has led to recent breakthroughs in the study of mechanotransduction at cell-ECM and cell-cell contacts. We anticipate that the development of techniques with even finer (nm scale) spatial resolution and techniques that allow rapid dynamic changes in the forces exerted at an adhesion will uncover new insights into mechanical signaling in cells.

MECHANOTRANSDUCTION AT CELL-MATRIX CONTACTS

Structure of Cell-Matrix Adhesions

Recent studies have shown that many distinct types of adhesions exist between cells and the ECM; these adhesions differ in size, shape, and biochemical composition and probably differ in function as well (84). The best-characterized and largest of these structures is the focal adhesion (FA; also known as a focal contact) (13). These adhesions are transient in nature, and form in many types of cells that are cultured on a substrate coated with ECM. All adherent cells bind to the ECM through integrins-transmembrane receptors that bind to specific motifs on numerous ECM proteins (85). The binding of integrins to the ECM causes them to cluster and leads to the recruitment of a battery of cytoplasmic signaling and structural proteins to form FAs at the site of integrin clustering (13, 86, 87). Numerous structural proteins (e.g., vinculin, talin, α -actinin, and paxillin) act as scaffolding proteins that strengthen cell adhesion by anchoring FAs to the actin cytoskeleton (13, 86). It is thought that these proteins are able to provide this anchoring function because some of these proteins bind actin filaments directly, whereas others contain domains that can bind to actin-binding proteins. When these proteins coalesce with clusters of integrins, they likely bind to each other through a multitude of interactions to link the integrins to the actin cytoskeleton. Other types of cell-matrix adhesions that have recently been identified—focal complexes, fibrillar adhesions and threedimensional matrix adhesions-are structurally similar to FAs but differ subtly in composition and morphology (24, 56, 88).

Forces that Regulate Assembly of Focal Adhesions

The distinguishing features of the four different cell-matrix adhesions (FAs, focal complexes, fibrillar adhesions, and three-dimensional matrix adhesions) suggest a central role for mechanical forces in their development. Focal complexes are found within minutes after suspended cells are placed in contact with an ECM-coated surface (88). These complexes are small, punctate, and exist primarily at the periphery of a spreading cell or at the leading edge of a migrating one (88, 89). Slightly proximal to these focal complexes are the larger FAs. Observations made with time-lapse fluorescence microscopy suggest that focal complexes are one of the precursors of FAs. In cells that express genetically engineered FA proteins linked to green fluorescent protein, focal complexes gradually move centripetally inward from the boundary of a cell, elongate, and evolve into FAs as more adhesion proteins and actin are recruited to the adhesion (56).

The maturation of these complexes into FAs appears to require the application of mechanical stress to the adhesions (15, 90). Early studies demonstrated that altering the activity of several biochemical signaling pathways, particularly those that involve myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) and the small GTPase Rho, regulated both the contractility of the actin cytoskeleton and the formation of FAs (14, 90). Specifically, the number of FAs present in a cell correlated strongly with the contractility of the cytoskeleton. However, these studies did not determine whether it was the biochemical activity of these signals, or the resultant mechanical stresses, that caused FAs to form.

Two different approaches that do not require tampering with endogenous signaling pathways also suggest that mechanical forces have a direct role in the formation of FAs. In the first approach, investigators used flexible substrates that deform when attached cells contract to measure the local distribution of forces that are generated by cells at their adhesions (Figure 3A) (15, 63, 67). Studies using this approach have demonstrated that the size of individual focal adhesions (as determined by fluorescence microscopy) correlates loosely with the measured local forces. [Intriguingly, at a subset of smaller adhesions (<1 μ m² in area), cells exerted significant traction force that does not correlate with adhesion size.] This study also provided strong evidence that forces and focal adhesions correlate in un-manipulated cells, whose signaling pathways remain intact; nevertheless, cause and effect were not distinguished.

In the second approach, investigators applied external forces directly to adhesions (Figure 3*B*) (16, 19, 20, 91). Applying force to FAs from externally bound beads or pipettes led to assembly of components into FAs (16). This force-dependent assembly of FAs resulted in increased strength of adhesion; the strength of adhesion increased with the amount of force applied (20). Taken together, these studies suggest that intracellular tension against initial cell-ECM contacts is necessary for these contacts to develop into FAs. These studies have clearly shown that the application of force causes FAs to increase in size, to stabilize, and to strengthen their coupling to the cell (presumably through the actin cytoskeleton). Externally applied mechanical forces can replace the activation of Rho-associated kinase (ROCK), a downstream effector of Rho that regulates cell contractility, but cannot replace the function of mDia1, an effector of Rho that allows actin to polymerize (16).

These findings collectively suggest that maturation of FAs requires either tensile forces generated by actin-myosin contraction of the anchoring actin filaments or external loading of the bound ECM. In addition, these findings outline a threestage process for the formation of FAs in cultured cells: Occupation of integrins by ligand initiates condensation of FA proteins, clustering of integrins by multivalent ECM recruits further components of FAs, and exertion of tensile forces through integrins to the ECM provides a signal to mature the adhesions.

Fibrillar adhesions appear to be a separate form of FAs and manifest as streaks that lie centripetal to FAs (56, 57). Time-lapse recordings have shown that fibrillar adhesions quickly slide centripetally from FAs to the central region beneath the cell; these adhesions appear to originate from the proximal ends of FAs (56). Fibrillar adhesions appear to track along actin stress fibers that anchor into the originating FA and move at speeds comparable to the treadmilling rate of actin. These adhesions contain slightly different mixtures of components and integrin subtypes than do FAs and are enriched in fibronectin and $\alpha_5\beta_1$ integrin (57). Culture of cells on ECM that is chemically cross-linked onto a rigid substrate greatly reduces the formation of fibrillar adhesions and favors the formation of FAs instead. These results suggest that FAs form when the cell can exert large stresses against an ECM, whereas fibrillar adhesions form when the ECM can support only smaller contractile forces. Whether this hypothesis is correct awaits the use of optical tweezers or compliant substrates to determine the effect of force on the formation of fibrillar adhesions.

Adhesions to a three-dimensional matrix appear to be a distinct class of structures that form only when cells are cultured on naturally assembled ECM fibrils (versus a flat adsorbed layer of ECM). This three-dimensional ECM typically consists of a fibrous composite of collagen, proteoglycans, elastin, and adhesive glycoproteins (92). It is usually oriented, highly porous, and heavily cross-linked. The three-dimensional matrix adhesions appear to have a composition distinct from FAs, fibrillar adhesions, and focal complexes; in particular, they lack phosphorylated focal adhesion kinase (24). What remains unclear is whether these matrix adhesions form as a result of the difference in matrix architecture, mechanical compliance, or ligand presentation, such as might result from the hydration state of the matrix. When the compliant three-dimensional ECM is either compressed into a sheet or chemically cross-linked to produce a rigid three-dimensional ECM, the distribution of adhesion proteins changes. These results suggest that mechanical forces again may play a key role in the formation of these adhesions; they also suggest that the architecture of the ECM—whether flat or a porous volume—may control the localization of proteins to these adhesions.

Several aspects of the cell-matrix adhesions that are likely relevant for cell mechanics remain unresolved. First, it is not clear how the compositions of adhesions differ between cells or between adhesions in a single cell, and how a particular composition determines downstream signaling. No stoichiometric relationships have been determined in defining the composition of these adhesions, and, given the numerous proteins that are involved, it is uncertain whether specific stoichiometries should even exist in these structures. In fact, a wide range of compositions may provide similar functions to the different types of matrix adhesions (84). In vitro several of these FA proteins appear to be redundant for normal cell adhesion and function. In vivo, however, deletion of any of these proteins in mice is lethal, suggesting that at different times during development there are periods where each of these scaffolding proteins is critical for adhesive function (93).

The composition of these adhesions has been determined predominantly by two distinct approaches: (*a*) the cells can be labeled with immunofluorescent probes and fluorescence microscopy used to detect the distribution of specific proteins in the adhesions, or (*b*) the adherent cells can be permeabilized to remove most cellular proteins and the remaining adhesions solubilized for electrophoretic separation and detection by Western blot. With immunostaining, the distinctions between different classes of adhesions have been made by the presence or absence of specific integrins or FA proteins within the structures and by the morphology of these adhesions. These methods have not yet determined whether these adhesions are indeed distinct subtypes or, instead, vary along a continuum in adhesion composition and properties. However, the complexity and compaction of proteins in these adhesions to label targeted proteins adequately. Methods to selectively collect a particular class of adhesions for biochemical analysis would greatly aid in resolving these issues.

Second, it is not yet clear if there is a particular organization to these adhesive structures. Apart from knowing that integrins exist at the plasma membrane and that actin is linked to the cytoplasmic domains of FAs, the internal structure of these adhesions is basically unknown. From a comprehensive list of positive protein-protein interactions and a list of proteins present at an adhesion, it may be possible to guess the three-dimensional arrangement present at the adhesion. The use of fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) techniques to determine the spacings between proteins may prove useful here (94).

Third, the mechanical properties of these adhesions remain unclear. Given the large number of interconnected protein-protein interactions that arise during adhesion formation, one expects that much of the mechanical stability arises from binding energies between these scaffolding proteins. Because many of the binding energies between proteins have not yet been determined, it is difficult to estimate the theoretical strength of these adhesion sites, let alone the relative contribution of each protein-protein interaction to the strength of these adhesions.

Fourth, it is not clear how the different compositions or mechanical properties of cell adhesions lead to changes in biochemical signaling. Because the molecular definition of these adhesions remains vague, it has been difficult to uncover how specific signaling events arise.

Forces that Regulate Signaling at Focal Adhesions

In all adherent cells, adhesion is needed for proper metabolism, protein synthesis, and survival (95, 96). Although it is well-known that signaling through integrins regulates the formation of FAs (13), only recently has it become evident that the mechanical and structural changes associated with maturation of adhesions in

turn affect signaling (58, 97). Thus cell-matrix adhesions not only play a physical role in organizing cells into tissues but also provide an important biochemical role in the regulation of many cellular processes.

Many signaling proteins (e.g., src, FAK, Ras) localize within cell-matrix adhesions (84, 87). Because these signaling proteins function in cascades initiated by growth factors, their concentration at adhesions suggests that adhesions may act to coordinate integrin and growth factor signaling (96). For example, it is known that most adherent cells will undergo apoptosis quickly in the absence of either adhesion or soluble growth factors and will proliferate only in the presence of both signals (98). In fact, growth factor receptors themselves are thought to localize to FAs. Because specific integrins within these adhesions appear to interact with specific growth factor receptors (99, 100), these adhesions may enable cells to generate unique responses when exposed to particular combinations of ECM and growth factors. For example, signaling through basic fibroblast growth factor receptor in endothelial cells requires ligation of the integrin $\alpha_{\rm v}\beta_{\rm 3}$, whereas signaling through vascular endothelial growth factor receptor uses $\alpha_{v}\beta_{5}$; because $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ and $\alpha_{\rm v}\beta_5$ bind to different classes of ECM proteins, the response of endothelial cells to a given growth factor depends on its underlying ECM (101, 102). Thus adhesions provide a physical structure that allows many important biochemical signals to initiate fundamental changes in cell behavior. Because these adhesions continually remodel in response to changes in the composition, architecture, and mechanical properties of the cell-matrix interface, they appear to be a central mechanism by which cells can change behavior in response to structural and mechanical cues.

Increasing mechanical stress at FAs by increasing intracellular tension or applying extracellular forces leads to important changes in signaling at FAs through focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and its downstream partners (17, 97). FAK appears to be the earliest marker of FA signaling whose activity changes with tension. Recent studies show that applying mechanical stretch can increase FAK phosphorylation, sustain the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK, and cause cells to proliferate (103, 104). The activation of FAK by autophosphorylation of tyrosine397 is required for ERK activation and cyclin-dependent progression through G₁ (105). Kinase-dead mutations in FAK appear to abrogate ERK activation and cell proliferation caused by mechanical forces (106, 107); expression of constitutively active FAK, on the other hand, can transform cells so that they proliferate in suspension (108). These findings imply that increases in cytoskeletal tension may be transduced into a proliferative signal in FAs, possibly through changes in FAK activity and that this signal represents a crucial component of adhesion-dependent growth in cells. The hypothesized link between tension and proliferation might explain why agonists that increase cytoskeletal tension, such as thrombin or angiotensin II, cause smooth muscle cells to proliferate (109–111).

Because FAs do not form without the generation of intracellular tension, it has been difficult to determine whether the pro-proliferative effects of tension are mediated by the presence of FAs or whether tension has additional direct effects on the activity of signaling proteins. Recent results have provided tantalizing evidence

that tension may modulate the activity of proteins in a recruitment-independent manner. Application of mechanical stretch to permeabilized cells, i.e., depleted of additional cytoplasmic proteins that can localize to FAs, can itself result in phosphorylation of paxillin, FAK, and Cas (17). This result implies that stretch may possibly alter the conformation and thus the activity of molecules that have already been recruited to FAs. Changes in activity that result from changes in conformation are well known for the FA proteins vinculin and src (112); although tension-generated changes in cell signaling have previously been ascribed to binding of soluble factors to FA proteins, the demonstration that some of these changes can take place in the absence of soluble factors suggests that additional mechanisms for altering biochemical activity operate in adherent cells.

Integrated Forces Alter Cell Behavior

The response of a cell to changes in its mechanical environment depends on the integration of signals transduced at numerous distinct FAs; in vitro a cell typically forms numerous adhesions to surrounding ECM. How these signals from each adhesion are coordinated over the entire cell to drive cell behavior collectively must be considered in the context in which mechanical tension is generated throughout the cell. The ability of a cell to generate tension depends partly on the architecture of its anchoring cytoskeleton; cytoskeletal structure, in turn, varies with the global placement of adhesions. This interplay has led to the hypothesis that cell shape—as controlled by the location of cell-matrix adhesions—may regulate cell behavior through changes in intracellular tension and downstream signaling at FAs (37).

It has been known for some time that ligation of integrins alone is insufficient to support cell proliferation. Folkman & Moscona (48) first observed that cells proliferated only when allowed to spread and flatten against a solid substrate, suggesting that cell morphology may provide a regulatory signal for cell function. Studies later showed that the projected area of the cell (cell spreading) can be directly controlled by the density of immobilized ECM; increased cell spreading led to increased proliferation (113). Because ECM coating density not only affects cell spreading but also integrin activation, it remained controversial whether the effects of increased cell area merely reflected increased integrin activation or were separate from it (114–116).

To generate substrates that could decouple cell spreading from ECM coating density, we developed a micropatterning technique to synthesize surfaces that contained micrometer-scale ECM-coated islands surrounded by nonadhesive regions (Figure 4A). Cells cultured on these substrates attached and spread to fill the patterned islands (41). Cells that were plated on smaller islands coated with saturating densities of the ECM protein fibronectin were smaller in size and proliferated less (41, 117). Similar studies have shown that changes in cell spreading can also affect the differentiated function of cells (43, 118). Thus it appears that cell spreading independently regulates cells through a mechanism that is distinct from direct integrin ligation (117). Given that cell shape and cytoskeletal architecture are linked

and that cytoskeletal architecture in part drives the organization of FAs, these studies strongly suggest that signaling through matrix adhesions transduces the effects of changes in cell shape.

Cell spreading appears to modulate proliferation by regulating levels of tension within the actin cytoskeleton. Blocking actomyosin tension production in spread cells by inhibiting MLCK or by disrupting the actin cytoskeleton arrests cell cycle progression in late G_1 , as if cells were not spread (119). Direct measurements of the traction forces exerted by cells have shown that increased cell spreading increases the magnitude of tensile forces that cells exert against their adhesions (21, 63). These forces appear to be regulated in part by the Rho signaling pathway, which plays a major role in the generation of stress fibers and intracellular tension in adherent cells (90, 120).

Spreading-induced changes in cytoskeletal tension may regulate cell proliferation through changes in signaling through Rho. Microinjection of constitutively activated RhoA promotes DNA synthesis, whereas C3 exoenzyme, which ADP ribosylates and inactivates Rho, blocks DNA synthesis (121, 122). One Rho effector, Rho kinase (ROCK), is involved in the generation of cytoskeletal tension. Inhibition of ROCK with the compound Y-27632 or with expression of dominant-negative ROCK suppresses the mitogen-induced DNA synthesis of vascular cells in vitro and in vivo (123–125). ROCK directly phosphorylates both smooth muscle and nonmuscle myosin II regulatory light chain (MLC) and MLC phosphatase to synergistically increase MLC phosphorylation and myosin II contractility (126–128). Blocking Rho, ROCK, MLCK, or myosin activity leads to the same phenotype of cell cycle arrest; because MLCK acts to increase cell tension, it is thought that Rho acts through tension as well to exert its effect on cell proliferation (129).

Changes in cytoskeletal tension may be translated into appropriate proliferative signals by the interplay between cell shape, Rho, and FAs. First, inhibition of Rho greatly reduces the formation of FAs (14, 90). Second, cell spreading increases the total area of FAs quantity in a tension-dependent manner (130). Third, the activation of FAK reduces the activation of Rho (58). Because cells in culture are constantly exposed to agonists, such as lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), that activate Rho, cell shape may act in culture as a master switch to control the area of FAs, activation of Rho, generation of tension, and progression through the cell cycle.

A similar model may apply to the control of cell migration, this time through a different Rho family GTPase, Rac. Here, the data are less conclusive than for the role of Rho and tension in proliferation. Cells migrate, in part, by polarizing the distribution of force that they exert against their adhesions (131). Activation of Rac leads to the formation of lamellipodia, which are commonly observed at the leading edge of migrating cells and appear essential for migration (88). Moreover, activated Rac leads to the formation of focal complexes between cells and their substrate, which further recruit and activate Rac at the membrane. Cortically oriented tension (i.e., parallel to the cell periphery) decreases the activation of Rac and reduces the extension of lamellipodia, whereas radial tension has the opposite effect (132, 133). Taken together, these findings support a model in which the coordinated directions

of mechanical tension—which is needed for persistent migration—control the local activation of Rac through focal complexes. This activation may result in extension or retraction of lamellipodia, which leads to further formation of adhesions and redirection of contractile forces.

In contrast to cell proliferation, cell migration appears to be favored at intermediate levels of spreading. In fact, the speed of migration exhibits a unimodal dependence on the degree of cell-ECM contact (134). This variation can be mimicked by culturing cells on substrates of varying stiffnesses. Cells migrate most on substrates of intermediate stiffness and may be induced to migrate in a specific direction by local stiffening of the substrate with a rigid tip (62). These effects may be regulated through FAK because FAK-null cells do not respond to local variations in the rigidity of the substrate and migrate less than do cells with wildtype FAK (78). How signals from FAK regulate the activation of Rac is unclear, although the inhibition of Rho by active FAK suggests that FAK may enhance signaling through Rac by inhibiting Rho and thus changing the magnitudes or directions of cell tension. Mechanical forces may thus provide a link between cell proliferation and migration through the assembly of FAs and focal complexes and through regulation of FAK and Rho family GTPases.

MECHANOTRANSDUCTION AT CELL-CELL CONTACTS

Cell-cell adhesions, similar to cell-matrix adhesions, are emerging as important players in mechanotransduction. Distinct types of cell-cell adhesions include AJs, tight junctions, and gap junctions, which are mediated by cadherins, occludins, and connexins, respectively (135–137). In some cases, especially with blood-borne cells, intercellular adhesions may be mediated by integrins (138). Among these different cell-cell adhesions, the AJ is perhaps one of the most important for transmitting mechanical signals directly to the actin cytoskeleton. The homotypic engagement of cadherins, a family of transmembrane Ca²⁺-dependent adhesion molecules, initiates the formation of AJs and recruits scaffolding proteins that anchor the actin cytoskeleton (139).

Similarities Between Focal Adhesions and Adherens Junctions

Focal adhesions and AJs exhibit many striking similarities (Figure 1). First, both consist of dense clusters of transmembrane receptors that attach the cell to the external environment. Second, both provide a highly dynamic and responsive mechanical link to the actin cytoskeleton. Third, the architecture of both FAs and AJs consists of a large number of signaling and structural molecules that cluster at the junction through multiple, redundant protein-protein interactions. Several of these components, including α -actinin, Arp2/3, zyxin, moesin, and vinculin, are shared by both types of adhesions (140).

These similarities have motivated the idea that, as in FAs, mechanical force regulates the formation of AJs and their downstream signaling. In contrast to FAs,

however, where the role of cytoskeletal tension in regulating adhesion formation is clear, the response of AJs to tension remains controversial. For instance, increasing Rho GTPase RhoA-mediated cytoskeletal tension can change the morphology of AJs and increase the permeability of cell-cell junctions (141, 142), whereas increasing sphingosine-1-phosphate-mediated cytoskeletal tension appears to stabilize AJs and decrease permeability (143). Similarly, it has been reported that disruption of the cytoskeleton can disturb AJs, leading to loss of cadherins from cell-cell junctions (144); however, we have found that pharmacologically disrupting the cytoskeleton may have no effect on the localization of cadherin (60). Some of these differences may be attributed to differences in experimental conditions and in the particular cell types studied, but no consistent picture of the interaction between mechanical forces and AJs has emerged. Not surprisingly, experiments to determine the effect of tension on AJs often lead to simultaneous changes at FAs that complicate interpretation of data.

Does Force Regulate Assembly and Signaling at Adherens Junctions?

The ability to quantitatively measure force at cell-cell junctions may help reconcile some of the findings and shed light on the role of tension at cell-cell junctions. Although the existence of endogenous tension at cell-cell contacts has not been demonstrated, cadherin-based adhesions are clearly capable of supporting large forces. Suspended cells expressing E-cadherin will adhere to each other and require >100 nN of force to separate them (W.A. Thomas, personal communication). Likewise, the compaction of epithelial layers during morphogenesis generates substantial compressive force (145, 146).

The localization of components to AJs may be driven by tension. One of these components, vinculin, binds various cytoskeletal proteins, including actin, α -actinin, talin, paxillin, VASP, and protein kinase C (147). Vinculin plays a key role in coupling FAs to the cytoskeleton, and the amount of vinculin localized to FAs correlates with the amount of local tension (15, 63). Whether vinculin in AJs plays a similar role, however, is unknown. Another component of cell-cell junctions is β -catenin, which binds along with several adaptor proteins to the cytoplasmic domains of cadherins (148). When localized to AJs, β -catenin plays a structural role in linking cadherin to the actin cytoskeleton. When phosphorylated on tyrosine, however, β -catenin can dissociate from AJs and translocate to the nucleus, where it interacts with the TCF/LEF family of transcription factors to regulate the expression of genes such as *cyclin D* and *c-myc* that regulate cell cycle progression (149–151). Tension at cell-cell junctions may play a role in stabilizing AJs and controlling downstream proliferative signaling pathways by regulating the fraction of β -catenin that is bound to AJs or freely diffusing in the cytoplasm.

Although direct evidence for the effects of mechanical force on AJs remains elusive, evidence for the effects of cadherin engagement on cytoskeletal organization and cell function is accumulating. Perhaps the clearest indication of the regulation of cell structure by cadherins lies in the requirement for expression of cadherins to define apical and basolateral domains in the formation of differentiated epithelial monolayers (27, 152). It has also been shown that cadherin-mediated cell-cell contact decreases cell-ECM adhesion. For example, increasing the density of cells on a substrate leads to increased intercellular contact and decreased cell spreading on the substrate, a phenomenon described as contact inhibition of cell spreading (60, 83, 153). Many studies have also suggested that cadherin engagement in-hibits proliferation or contact inhibition of proliferation: For example, exogenous expression of VE-cadherin in Chinese hampster ovary cells results in decreased growth rates, whereas blocking the function of VE-cadherin leads to increased proliferation (154). Similarly, transformed cells that lack a variety of components of AJs exhibit higher rates of proliferation than when they are transfected with N-or E-cadherin (155, 156). Recent evidence suggests that the engagement of cadherins blocks proliferation by increasing p27kip1 levels and inhibiting cell cycle progression into S-phase (157).

We have used a lithographic method to demonstrate that, when preventing contact inhibition of cell spreading by holding cell-matrix contact constant, cadherinmediated cell-cell contact no longer inhibits proliferation but instead acts as a stimulatory signal for cell proliferation in vascular cells (60, 83). Moreover, this signal requires intact signaling through MLCK, the Rho pathway, and PI3-kinase. In cells that are allowed to spread freely in this system, cadherin-mediated inhibition of cell spreading is restored and proliferation is arrested. These results imply that AJs can generate two opposing signals that affect cell proliferation: an inhibitory signal involving effects on cell spreading and a stimulatory signal through cell-cell contact-mediated increases in intracellular tension. In most previous experiments with mass cultures, the antiproliferative effects of reduced cell spreading (and reduced tension at FAs) presumably overrode the effects of additional tension generated at AJs and resulted in lower proliferative rates. When cell spreading is held constant, however, the effect of AJ-mediated tension is to increase proliferation.

Recent studies indirectly suggest that cadherins can stimulate such tension by increasing Rho activity. Cadherin engagement appears to sequester a Rho inhibitor, p120 catenin (158, 159). Cadherin engagement also initiates signaling of Rac, a Rho GTPase that causes membrane ruffling (160). In all, while little data exist to provide a clear model of how mechanical forces might alter the structure or signaling of AJs, the engagement of cadherins appears to have dramatic effects on cytoskeletal organization and tension. Thus AJs are at least indirectly involved in modulating mechanotransduction, if not direct sites for such mechanochemical signaling.

Crosstalk Between Focal Adhesions and Adherens Junctions

Our results and those of others have consistently emphasized a link between signaling at FAs and AJs in controlling cell behavior. An emerging principle is that the formation of FAs and AJs results in antagonistic behaviors. For instance, increasing cell-cell adhesion mechanically competes with and hence decreases cell-substrate adhesion (161, 162). Also, adhesion of ECM- or cadherin-coated beads to the cell surface leads to selective reinforcement of FAs and AJs, respectively (163). Thus the extent to which this interplay results from the redistribution of cytoskeletal tension to FAs and AJs or from the release or sequestration of soluble factors that interact with both types of adhesions is unknown.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Much work still needs to be undertaken to create a coherent consistent theory of mechanotransduction at cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts. Unsolved questions include the following: First, and most importantly, what is the nature of the mechanosensor in cells? Is it a stretch-sensitive protein (or group of proteins) that can signal only when its conformation changes? Is it the lateral clustering of membrane proteins at adhesions that occurs when these proteins experience a force parallel to the cell membrane? We believe that multiple proteins are responsible for mechanosensing in a cell. For example, stretch of a chain of proteins may alter all of their conformations and thereby alter their ability to bind, recruit, or modify other cytoplasmic proteins.

Second, how is the shape of a cell determined? In our experiments with culturing cells on microscale islands, we have consistently observed that cells will spread to fill an island if the island is small, but will not if the island is too large. Does the stiffness of the substrate determine when the cell "knows" to stop spreading? Does a cell keep spreading until its adhesions can no longer support the contractile forces exerted on them? Previous results have suggested that whether a cell is under isometric or isotonic tension plays a role in determining if it can spread farther (164). The inhibitory effect of FAK on Rho implies that there is a negative feedback loop that acts to stabilize intracellular tension. Might a cell spread only until the "correct" tension is reached? The majority of our experience with cell shape involves culture on a flat surface; how do we investigate these effects when cells are embedded in three-dimensional scaffolds?

Third, how do the different types of FAs, AJs, ECM, integrins, and cell-cell adhesion molecules interact? In addition, how do these different combinations manifest in different types of cells (transformed versus normal, human versus nonhuman)? Variations in results owing to the use of different cells or differently prepared substrates have rarely been addressed and are often rationalized as investigator-specific anomalies. Whereas the effects of different types of ECM on cell behavior are well known, other types of differences may play a larger role than previously suspected: Swiss 3T3 mouse fibroblasts, a cell type commonly used in studies of mechanotransduction, are favored because they form particularly large FAs. Removing serum from the culture media of these cells causes FAs to disassemble quickly, but this effect is not seen for some other cell types. To what extent, then, are data specific to a particular type of cell? Likewise, differences in how ECM proteins are adsorbed may lead to unexpected changes in the conformation

of adsorbed proteins that can influence the clustering of cell adhesion molecules (165). For instance, adsorbed cadherin fusion proteins do not elicit the same behaviors as native cadherins embedded in a fluid lipid membrane (C.M. Nelson, J. Tien & C.S. Chen, unpublished results).

Fourth, is the only purpose of cytoskeletal tension to drive the maturation of adhesions and to enhance adhesion-based signaling? The force generated by cells can not only alter intracellular structures but also had been shown to alter the structure and organization of the extracellular matrix (166, 167). Although we and others have focused nearly exclusively on examining the effects of tension generated by the actin-myosin cytoskeleton, other cytoskeletal systems such as microtubules and intermediate filaments play a part in determining the mechanical properties of a cell (1). It seems reasonable to expect that these less-studied systems may also affect mechanical signaling in cells (albeit indirectly, because complexes do not appear to mechanically couple these other filaments to adhesions). One hypothesis claims that microtubules act as elements to resist compressive forces in cells; depolymerization of microtubules should thus increase cytoskeletal tension, and mimic the effect of enhancing cell contractility, as suggested by some recent studies (168, 169). Transmission of mechanical force may also alter the shape of the cell nucleus and thereby regulate the nuclear import of transcription factors (170, 171). These forces may even direct the organization of chromatin and physically alter the accessibility of genes to transcriptional complexes (172). However, attempts to test these hypotheses have been limited by the lack of direct methods to measure intracellular forces.

In all, there are numerous opportunities for researchers to advance the study of mechanotransduction. Given that many breakthroughs have occurred hand-in-hand with the development of new tools to observe or to perturb cells, we expect that new methods to analyze cells in three dimensions with submicrometer resolution and over fine timescales should open new avenues of investigation in this area.

The Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering is online at http://bioeng.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Ingber DE. 1998. The architecture of life. Sci. Am. 278:48–57
- Thompson DA. 1961. On Growth and Form. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press. 346 pp.
- Fung YC. 1993. Biomechanics: Mechanical Properties of Living Tissues. New York: Springer-Verlag. 568 pp.
- Guyton AC. 1991. *Textbook of Medical Physiology*. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders. 1014 pp.
- Folkow B. 1982. Physiological aspects of primary hypertension. *Physiol. Rev.* 62: 347–504
- Cines DB, Pollak ES, Buck CA, Loscalzo J, Zimmerman GA, et al. 1998. Endothelial cells in physiology and in the pathophysiology of vascular disorders. *Blood* 91:3527–61
- Gimbrone MA Jr. 1999. Vascular endothelium, hemodynamic forces, and atherogenesis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 155:1–5

- Shepro D, D'Amore P. 1984. Physiology and biochemistry of the vascular wall endothelium. In *Microcirculation*, ed. EM Renkin, CC Michel, pp. 103–64. Bethesda, MD: Am. Physiol. Soc.
- Dunphy JE. 1963. The fibroblast—a ubiquitous ally for the surgeon. N. Engl. J. Med. 268:1367–77
- Singer AJ, Clark RA. 1999. Cutaneous wound healing. N. Engl. J. Med. 341:738– 46
- Cowan DB, Langille BL. 1996. Cellular and molecular biology of vascular remodeling. *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* 7:94–100
- Langille BL. 1995. Blood flow-induced remodeling of the artery wall. In *Flow-Dependent Regulation of Vascular Function*, ed. JA Bevan, G Kaley, GM Rubanyi, pp. 277–99. New York: Am. Physiol. Soc.
- Burridge K, Fath K, Kelly T, Nuckolls G, Turner C. 1988. Focal adhesions: transmembrane junctions between the extracellular matrix and the cytoskeleton. *Annu. Rev. Cell Biol.* 4:487–525
- Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M, Burridge K. 1996. Rho-stimulated contractility drives the formation of stress fibers and focal adhesions. J. Cell Biol. 133:1403–15
- Balaban NQ, Schwarz US, Riveline D, Goichberg P, Tzur G, et al. 2001. Force and focal adhesion assembly: a close relationship studied using elastic micropatterned substrates. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3:466–72
- 16. Riveline D, Zamir E, Balaban NQ, Schwarz US, Ishizaki T, et al. 2001. Focal contacts as mechanosensors: externally applied local mechanical force induces growth of focal contacts by an mDia1dependent and ROCK-independent mechanism. J. Cell Biol. 153:1175–86
- Sawada Y, Sheetz MP. 2002. Force transduction by Triton cytoskeletons. J. Cell Biol. 156:609–15
- Galbraith CG, Sheetz MP. 1997. A micromachined device provides a new bend on fibroblast traction forces. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:9114–18
- 19. Galbraith CG, Yamada KM, Sheetz MP.

2002. The relationship between force and focal complex development. *J. Cell Biol.* 159:695–705

- Choquet D, Felsenfeld DP, Sheetz MP. 1997. Extracellular matrix rigidity causes strengthening of integrin-cytoskeleton linkages. *Cell* 88:39–48
- Wang N, Butler JP, Ingber DE. 1993. Mechanotransduction across the cell surface and through the cytoskeleton. *Science* 260:1124–27
- Pelham RJJ, Wang Y-L. 1997. Cell locomotion and focal adhesions are regulated by substrate flexibility. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:13661–65
- Burridge K, Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M. 1996. Focal adhesions, contractility, and signaling. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 12: 463–518
- Cukierman E, Pankov R, Stevens DR, Yamada KM. 2001. Taking cell-matrix adhesions to the third dimension. *Science* 294:1708–12
- Kano Y, Katoh K, Fujiwara K. 2000. Lateral zone of cell-cell adhesion as the major fluid shear stress-related signal transduction site. *Circ. Res.* 86:425–33
- Izzard CS, Lochner LR. 1976. Cell-tosubstrate contacts in living fibroblasts: an interference reflexion study with an evaluation of the technique. *J. Cell Sci.* 21:129– 59
- Rodriguez-Boulan E, Nelson WJ. 1989. Morphogenesis of the polarized epithelial cell phenotype. *Science* 245:718–25
- Bissell MJ, Nelson WJ. 1999. Cell-to-cell contact and extracellular matrix. Integration of form and function: the central role of adhesion molecules. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 11:537–39
- Gumbiner BM. 1996. Cell adhesion: the molecular basis of tissue architecture and morphogenesis. *Cell* 84:345–57
- Davies PF. 1995. Flow-mediated endothelial mechanotransduction. *Physiol. Rev.* 75:519–60
- 31. Shyy JY, Chien S. 1997. Role of integrins in cellular responses to mechanical

stress and adhesion. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 9:707–13

- Acevedo AD, Bowser SS, Gerritsen ME, Bizios R. 1993. Morphological and proliferative responses of endothelial cells to hydrostatic pressure: role of fibroblast growth factor. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 157:603– 14
- Takeichi M. 1991. Cadherin cell adhesion receptors as a morphogenetic regulator. *Science* 251:1451–55
- Juliano RL, Haskill S. 1993. Signal transduction from the extracellular matrix. J. Cell Biol. 120:577–85
- Schwartz MA, Schaller MD, Ginsberg MH. 1995. Integrins: emerging paradigms of signal transduction. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 11:549–99
- Jockusch BM, Bubeck P, Giehl K, Kroemker M, Moschner J, et al. 1995. The molecular architecture of focal adhesions. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 11:379–416
- Chicurel ME, Chen CS, Ingber DE. 1997. Cellular control lies in the balance of forces. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 10:232–39
- Dunn GA, Brown AF. 1986. Alignment of fibroblasts on grooved surfaces described by a simple geometric transformation. *J. Cell Sci.* 83:313–40
- Brunette DM, Chehroudi B. 1999. The effects of the surface topography of micromachined titanium substrata on cell behavior in vitro and in vivo. *J. Biomech.* Eng. 121:49–57
- Bissell MJ, Weaver VM, Lelievre SA, Wang F, Petersen OW, Schmeichel KL. 1999. Tissue structure, nuclear organization, and gene expression in normal and malignant breast. *Cancer Res.* 59:1757s– 63
- Chen CS, Mrksich M, Huang S, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. 1997. Geometric control of cell life and death. *Science* 276:1425–28
- Watt FM, Jordan PW, O'Neill CH. 1988. Cell shape controls terminal differentiation of human epidermal keratinocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:5576–80

- Thomas CH, Collier JH, Sfeir CS, Healy KE. 2002. Engineering gene expression and protein synthesis by modulation of nuclear shape. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 99:1972–77
- Boonstra J. 1999. Growth factor-induced signal transduction in adherent mammalian cells is sensitive to gravity. *FASEB* J. 13:S35–42
- Guharay F, Sachs F. 1984. Stretchactivated single ion channel currents in tissue-cultured embryonic chick skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 352:685–701
- Hamill OP, Martinac B. 2001. Molecular basis of mechanotransduction in living cells. *Physiol. Rev.* 81:685–740
- Ghazi A, Berrier C, Ajouz B, Besnard M. 1998. Mechanosensitive ion channels and their mode of activation. *Biochimie* 80:357–62
- Folkman J, Moscona A. 1978. Role of cell shape in growth control. *Nature* 273:345– 49
- Ingber DE, Folkman J. 1989. Mechanochemical switching between growth and differentiation during fibroblast growth factor-stimulated angiogenesis in vitro: role of extracellular matrix. *J. Cell Biol.* 109:317–30
- Ingber DE, Madri JA, Folkman J. 1987. Endothelial growth factors and extracellular matrix regulate DNA synthesis through modulation of cell and nuclear expansion. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.* 23:387– 94
- Ireland GW, Dopping-Hepenstal P, Jordan P, O'Neill C. 1987. Effect of patterned surfaces of adhesive islands on the shape, cytoskeleton, adhesion and behaviour of Swiss mouse 3T3 fibroblasts. *J. Cell Sci. Suppl.* 8:19–33
- O'Neill C, Jordan P, Ireland G. 1986. Evidence for two distinct mechanisms of anchorage stimulation in freshly explanted and 3T3 Swiss mouse fibroblasts. *Cell* 44:489–96
- 53. Harris AK, Wild P, Stopak D. 1980. Silicone rubber substrata: a new wrinkle

in the study of cell locomotion. *Science* 208:177–80

- Harris AK, Stopak D, Wild P. 1981. Fibroblast traction as a mechanism for collagen morphogenesis. *Nature* 290:249–51
- 55. Flusberg DA, Numaguchi Y, Ingber DE. 2001. Cooperative control of Akt phosphorylation, bcl-2 expression, and apoptosis by cytoskeletal microfilaments and microtubules in capillary endothelial cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12:3087–94
- Zamir E, Katz M, Posen Y, Erez N, Yamada KM, et al. 2000. Dynamics and segregation of cell-matrix adhesions in cultured fibroblasts. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2:191–96
- 57. Katz BZ, Zamir E, Bershadsky A, Kam Z, Yamada KM, Geiger B. 2000. Physical state of the extracellular matrix regulates the structure and molecular composition of cell-matrix adhesions. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 11:1047–60
- Ren XD, Kiosses WB, Sieg DJ, Otey CA, Schlaepfer DD, Schwartz MA. 2000. Focal adhesion kinase suppresses Rho activity to promote focal adhesion turnover. J. Cell Sci. 113:3673–78
- Chen Q, Kinch MS, Lin TH, Burridge K, Juliano RL. 1994. Integrin-mediated cell adhesion activates mitogen-activated protein kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 269:26602–5
- Nelson CM, Chen CS. 2003. VE-cadherin simultaneously stimulates and inhibits cell proliferation by altering cytoskeletal structure and tension. *J. Cell Sci.* 116: 3571–81
- 61. Dike LE, Chen CS, Mrksich M, Tien J, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. 1999. Geometric control of switching between growth, apoptosis, and differentiation during angiogenesis using micropatterned substrates. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim.* 35:441–48
- Lo CM, Wang HB, Dembo M, Wang YL. 2000. Cell movement is guided by the rigidity of the substrate. *Biophys. J.* 79: 144–52
- 63. Tan JL, Tien J, Pirone DM, Gray DS, Bhadriraju K, Chen CS. 2003. Cells ly-

ing on a bed of microneedles: an approach to isolate mechanical force. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 100:1484–89

- Nakagawa S, Pawelek P, Grinnell F. 1989. Long-term culture of fibroblasts in contracted collagen gels: effects on cell growth and biosynthetic activity. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 93:792–98
- Lee J, Leonard M, Oliver T, Ishihara A, Jacobson K. 1994. Traction forces generated by locomoting keratocytes. *J. Cell Biol.* 127:1957–64
- Burton K, Taylor DL. 1997. Traction forces of cytokinesis measured with optically modified elastic substrata. *Nature* 385:450–54
- Beningo KA, Wang YL. 2002. Flexible substrata for the detection of cellular traction forces. *Trends Cell Biol.* 12:79–84
- Dembo M, Oliver T, Ishihara A, Jacobson K. 1996. Imaging the traction stresses exerted by locomoting cells with the elastic substratum method. *Biophys. J.* 70:2008–22
- Burton K, Park JH, Taylor DL. 1999. Keratocytes generate traction forces in two phases. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 10:3745–69
- Munevar S, Wang YL, Dembo M. 2001. Distinct roles of frontal and rear cellsubstrate adhesions in fibroblast migration. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12:3947–54
- Arfken GB. 1985. Mathematical Methods for Physicists. Orlando, FL: Academic. 985 pp.
- Wallace W, Schaefer LH, Swedlow JR. 2001. A workingperson's guide to deconvolution in light microscopy. *Biotechniques* 31:1076–97
- Landau LD, Lifshitz EM. 1986. *Theory of Elasticity*. Oxford, UK: Pergamon. 187 pp.
- Archer RR, Lardner TJ. 1978. An Introduction to the Mechanics of Solids. New York: McGraw-Hill. 628 pp.
- Sadoshima J, Takahashi T, Jahn L, Izumo S. 1992. Roles of mechano-sensitive ion channels, cytoskeleton, and contractile activity in stretch-induced immediate-early

gene expression and hypertrophy of cardiac myocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:9905–9

- 76. Maksym GN, Fabry B, Butler JP, Navajas D, Tschumperlin DJ, et al. 2000. Mechanical properties of cultured human airway smooth muscle cells from 0.05 to 0.4 Hz. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 89:1619–32
- Kuo SC, Sheetz MP. 1992. Optical tweezers in cell biology. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2: 116–18
- Wang HB, Dembo M, Hanks SK, Wang Y. 2001. Focal adhesion kinase is involved in mechanosensing during fibroblast migration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98:11295–300
- Tien J, Chen CS. 2002. Patterning the cellular microenvironment. *IEEE Eng. Med. Biol.* 21:95–98
- 79a. Folch A, Toner M. 2000. Microengineering of cellular interactions. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2:227–56
- 79b. Whitesides GM, Ostuni E. Takayama S, Jiang X, Ingber DE. 2001. Soft lithography in biology and biochemistry. *Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng.* 3:335–73
 - Singhvi R, Kumar A, Lopez G, Stephanopoulos GN, Wang DIC, Whitesides GM. 1994. Engineering cell shape and function. *Science* 264:696–98
 - Mrksich M, Chen CS, Xia Y, Dike LE, Ingber DE, Whitesides GM. 1996. Controlling cell attachment on contoured surfaces with self-assembled monolayers of alkanethiolates on gold. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93:10775–78
 - 82. Mrksich M, Dike LE, Tien J, Ingber DE, Whitesides GM. 1997. Using microcontact printing to pattern the attachment of mammalian cells to self-assembled monolayers of alkanethiolates on transparent films of gold and silver. *Exp. Cell Res.* 235:305–13
 - Nelson CM, Chen CS. 2002. Cell-cell signaling by direct contact increases cell proliferation via a PI3K-dependent signal. *FEBS Lett.* 514:238–42
 - 84. Zamir E, Geiger B. 2001. Molecular com-

plexity and dynamics of cell-matrix adhesions. J. Cell Sci. 114:3583–90

- Ruoslahti E. 1996. RGD and other recognition sequences for integrins. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 12:697–715
- Miyamoto S, Akiyama SK, Yamada KM. 1995. Synergistic roles for receptor occupancy and aggregation in integrin transmembrane function. *Science* 267:883– 85
- Plopper G, Ingber DE. 1993. Rapid induction and isolation of focal adhesion complexes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 193:571–78
- Nobes CD, Hall A. 1995. Rho, rac, and cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia. *Cell* 81:53–62
- 89. Kiosses WB, Shattil SJ, Pampori N, Schwartz MA. 2001. Rac recruits highaffinity integrin $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$ to lamellipodia in endothelial cell migration. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3:316–20
- Ridley AJ, Hall A. 1992. The small GTPbinding protein rho regulates the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. *Cell* 70:389– 99
- Felsenfeld DP, Schwartzberg PL, Venegas A, Tse R, Sheetz MP. 1999. Selective regulation of integrin–cytoskeleton interactions by the tyrosine kinase Src. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 1:200–6
- Hay ED. 1991. Collagen and other matrix glycoproteins in embryogenesis. In *Cell Biology of Extracellular Matrix*, ed. ED Hay, pp. 419–62. New York: Plenum
- 93. Ilic D, Furuta Y, Kanazawa S, Takeda N, Sobue K, et al. 1995. Reduced cell motility and enhanced focal adhesion contact formation in cells from FAK-deficient mice. *Nature* 377:539–44
- Miyawaki A, Llopis J, Heim R, McCaffery JM, Adams JA, et al. 1997. Fluorescent indicators for Ca²⁺ based on green fluorescent proteins and calmodulin. *Nature* 388:882–87

- Stoker M, O'Neill C, Berryman S, Waxman V. 1968. Anchorage and growth regulation in normal and virus-transformed cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 3:683–93
- Schwartz MA. 1997. Integrins, oncogenes, and anchorage independence. J. Cell Biol. 139:575–78
- Leopoldt D, Yee HF Jr, Rozengurt E. 2001. Calyculin-A induces focal adhesion assembly and tyrosine phosphorylation of p125^{Fak}, p130^{Cas}, and paxillin in Swiss 3T3 cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 188:106–19
- Frisch SM, Francis H. 1994. Disruption of epithelial cell-matrix interactions induces apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 124:619–26
- 99. Mettouchi A, Klein S, Guo W, Lopez-Lago M, Lemichez E, et al. 2001. Integrinspecific activation of Rac controls progression through the G₁ phase of the cell cycle. *Mol. Cell* 8:115–27
- 100. Schneller M, Vuori K, Ruoslahti E. 1997. $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrin associates with activated insulin and PDGF β receptors and potentiates the biological activity of PDGF. *EMBO J.* 16:5600–7
- 101. Friedlander M, Brooks PC, Shaffer RW, Kincaid CM, Varner JA, Cheresh DA. 1995. Definition of two angiogenic pathways by distinct α_v integrins. *Science* 270:1500–2
- 102. Alavi A, Hood JD, Frausto R, Stupack DG, Cheresh DA. 2003. Role of Raf in vascular protection from distinct apoptotic stimuli. *Science* 301:94–96
- 103. Numaguchi K, Eguchi S, Yamakawa T, Motley ED, Inagami T. 1999. Mechanotransduction of rat aortic vascular smooth muscle cells requires RhoA and intact actin filaments. *Circ. Res.* 85:5– 11
- 104. Domingos PP, Fonseca PM, Nadruz W Jr, Franchini KG. 2002. Load-induced focal adhesion kinase activation in the myocardium: role of stretch and contractile activity. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 282:H556–64
- 105. Renshaw MW, Price LS, Schwartz MA. 1999. Focal adhesion kinase mediates the

integrin signaling requirement for growth factor activation of MAP kinase. *J. Cell Biol.* 147:611–18

- 106. Li W, Duzgun A, Sumpio BE, Basson MD. 2001. Integrin and FAK-mediated MAPK activation is required for cyclic strain mitogenic effects in Caco-2 cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 280:G75–87
- 107. Li S, Kim M, Hu YL, Jalali S, Schlaepfer DD, et al. 1997. Fluid shear stress activation of focal adhesion kinase. Linking to mitogen-activated protein kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 272:30455–62
- Frisch SM, Vuori K, Ruoslahti E, Chan-Hui PY. 1996. Control of adhesiondependent cell survival by focal adhesion kinase. J. Cell Biol. 134:793–99
- 109. Seasholtz TM, Zhang T, Morissette MR, Howes AL, Yang AH, Brown JH. 2001. Increased expression and activity of RhoA are associated with increased DNA synthesis and reduced p27^{Kip1} expression in the vasculature of hypertensive rats. *Circ. Res.* 89:488–95
- 110. Stouffer GA, Sarembock IJ, McNamara CA, Gimple LW, Owens GK. 1993. Thrombin-induced mitogenesis of vascular SMC is partially mediated by autocrine production of PDGF-AA. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 265:C806–11
- 111. Hahn AW, Resink TJ, Kern F, Buhler FR. 1993. Peptide vasoconstrictors, vessel structure, and vascular smooth-muscle proliferation. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 22:S37–43
- 112. Johnson RP, Craig SW. 1995. F-actin binding site masked by the intramolecular association of vinculin head and tail domains. *Nature* 373:261–64
- 113. Ingber DE. 1990. Fibronectin controls capillary endothelial cell growth by modulating cell shape. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 87:3579–83
- 114. Clark EA, Brugge JS. 1995. Integrins and signal transduction pathways: the road taken. *Science* 268:233–39
- 115. Hynes RO. 1992. Integrins: versatility,

modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. Cell 69:11-25

- 116. Tamkun JW, deSimone DW, Fonda D, Patel RS, Buck C, et al. 1986. Structure of integrin, a glycoprotein involved in the transmembrane linkage between fibronectin and actin. *Cell* 46:271–82
- Chen CS, Mrksich M, Huang S, Whitesides GM. 1998. Micropatterned surfaces for control of cell shape, position and function. *Biotechnol. Progr.* 14:356–63
- 118. Moiseeva EP. 2001. Adhesion receptors of vascular smooth muscle cells and their functions. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 52:372–86
- 119. Huang S, Chen CS, Ingber DE. 1998. Control of cyclin D1, p27Kip1 and cell cycle progression in human capillary endothelial cells by cell shape and cytoskeletal tension. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 9:3179–93
- Hall A. 1998. Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton. *Science* 279:509–14
- 121. Yamamoto M, Marui N, Sakai T, Morii N, Kozaki S, et al. 1993. ADP-ribosylation of the rhoA gene product by botulinum C3 exoenzyme causes Swiss 3T3 cells to accumulate in the G1 phase of the cell cycle. *Oncogene* 8:1449–55
- 122. Olson MF, Ashworth A, Hall A. 1995. An essential role for Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 GTPases in cell cycle progression through G1. Science 269:1270–72
- 123. Sawada N, Itoh H, Ueyama K, Yamashita J, Doi K, et al. 2000. Inhibition of rhoassociated kinase results in suppression of neointimal formation of balloon-injured arteries. *Circulation* 101:2030–33
- 124. Uchida S, Watanabe G, Shimada Y, Maeda M, Kawabe A, et al. 2000. The suppression of small GTPase rho signal transduction pathway inhibits angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 269:633–40
- 125. Uehata M, Ishizaki T, Satoh H, Ono T, Kawahara T, et al. 1997. Calcium sensitization of smooth muscle mediated by a Rho-associated protein kinase in hypertension. *Nature* 389:990–94
- 126. Kimura K, Ito M, Amano M, Chihara

K, Fukata Y, et al. 1996. Regulation of myosin phosphatase by Rho and Rho-associated kinase (Rho-kinase). *Science* 273:245–48

- 127. Amano M, Ito M, Kimura K, Fukata Y, Chihara K, et al. 1996. Phosphorylation and activation of myosin by Rhoassociated kinase (Rho-kinase). *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:20246–49
- 128. Ishizaki T, Maekawa M, Fujisawa K, Okawa K, Iwamatsu A, et al. 1996. The small GTP-binding protein Rho binds to and activates a 160 kDa Ser/Thr protein kinase homologous to myotonic dystrophy kinase. *EMBO J.* 15:1885–93
- 129. Geiger B, Bershadsky A. 2001. Assembly and mechanosensory function of focal contacts. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 13:584–92
- Chen CS, Alonso JL, Ostuni E, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. 2003. Cell shape provides global control of focal adhesion assembly. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 307:355–61
- Lauffenburger DA, Horwitz AF. 1996. Cell migration: a physically integrated molecular process. *Cell* 84:359–69
- 132. Katsumi A, Milanini J, Kiosses WB, del Pozo MA, Kaunas R, et al. 2002. Effects of cell tension on the small GTPase Rac. *J. Cell Biol.* 158:153–64
- 133. Parker KK, Brock AL, Brangwynne C, Mannix RJ, Wang N, et al. 2002. Directional control of lamellipodia extension by constraining cell shape and orienting cell tractional forces. *FASEB J.* 16:1195– 204
- 134. Palecek SP, Loftus JC, Ginsberg MH, Lauffenburger DA, Horwitz AF. 1997. Integrin-ligand binding properties govern cell migration speed through cellsubstratum adhesiveness. *Nature* 385: 537–40
- Vasioukhin V, Fuchs E. 2001. Actin dynamics and cell-cell adhesion in epithelia. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 13:76–84
- 136. Balda MS, Matter K. 1998. Tight junctions. J. Cell Sci. 111:541–47
- 137. Kumar NM, Gilula NB. 1996. The gap

junction communication channel. *Cell* 84:381-88

- Hynes RO, Lander AD. 1992. Contact and adhesive specificities in the associations, migrations, and targeting of cells and axons. *Cell* 68:303–22
- 139. McNeill H, Ryan TA, Smith SJ, Nelson WJ. 1993. Spatial and temporal dissection of immediate and early events following cadherin-mediated epithelial cell adhesion. J. Cell Biol. 120:1217–26
- Nagafuchi A. 2001. Molecular architecture of adherens junctions. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 13:600–3
- 141. Wojciak-Stothard B, Potempa S, Eichholtz T, Ridley AJ. 2001. Rho and Rac but not Cdc42 regulate endothelial cell permeability. J. Cell Sci. 114:1343–55
- 142. Dudek SM, Garcia JG. 2001. Cytoskeletal regulation of pulmonary vascular permeability. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 91:1487–500
- 143. Garcia JG, Liu F, Verin AD, Birukova A, Dechert MA, et al. 2001. Sphingosine 1-phosphate promotes endothelial cell barrier integrity by Edg-dependent cytoskeletal rearrangement. J. Clin. Invest. 108:689–701
- 144. Hordijk PL, Anthony E, Mul FP, Rientsma R, Oomen LC, Roos D. 1999. Vascularendothelial-cadherin modulates endothelial monolayer permeability. J. Cell Sci. 112:1915–23
- 145. Hutson MS, Tokutake Y, Chang MS, Bloor JW, Venakides S, et al. 2003. Forces for morphogenesis investigated with laser microsurgery and quantitative modeling. *Science* 300:145–49
- 146. Foty RA, Pfleger CM, Forgacs G, Steinberg MS. 1996. Surface tensions of embryonic tissues predict their mutual envelopment behavior. *Development* 122: 1611–20
- 147. Critchley DR. 2000. Focal adhesions the cytoskeletal connection. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 12:133–39
- Gumbiner BM. 1995. Signal transduction of beta-catenin. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 7:634–40

- 149. Piedra J, Martinez D, Castano J, Miravet S, Dunach M, de Herreros AG. 2001. Regulation of β-catenin structure and activity by tyrosine phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 276:20436–43
- 150. Hecht A, Kemler R. 2000. Curbing the nuclear activities of β-catenin. Control over Wnt target gene expression. *EMBO Rep.* 1:24–28
- Tetsu O, McCormick F. 1999. β-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. *Nature* 398:422–26
- 152. Drubin DG, Nelson WJ. 1996. Origins of cell polarity. *Cell* 84:335–44
- Fagotto F, Gumbiner BM. 1996. Cell contact-dependent signaling. *Dev. Biol.* 180:445–54
- 154. Caveda L, Martin-Padura I, Navarro P, Breviario F, Corada M, et al. 1996. Inhibition of cultured cell growth by vascular endothelial cadherin (cadherin-5/VEcadherin). J. Clin. Invest. 98:886–93
- Levenberg S, Yarden A, Kam Z, Geiger B. 1999. p27 is involved in N-cadherinmediated contact inhibition of cell growth and S-phase entry. *Oncogene* 18:869–76
- 156. Stockinger A, Eger A, Wolf J, Beug H, Foisner R. 2001. E-cadherin regulates cell growth by modulating proliferationdependent β-catenin transcriptional activity. J. Cell Biol. 154:1185–96
- 157. St Croix B, Sheehan C, Rak JW, Florenes VA, Slingerland JM, Kerbel RS. 1998. E-cadherin-dependent growth suppression is mediated by the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27^{KIP1}. J. Cell Biol. 142:557–71
- 158. Grosheva I, Shtutman M, Elbaum M, Bershadsky AD. 2001. p120 catenin affects cell motility via modulation of activity of Rho-family GTPases: a link between cell-cell contact formation and regulation of cell locomotion. J. Cell Sci. 114:695– 707
- 159. Anastasiadis PZ, Moon SY, Thoreson MA, Mariner DJ, Crawford HC, et al. 2000. Inhibition of RhoA by p120 catenin. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2:637–44

- Noren NK, Niessen CM, Gumbiner BM, Burridge K. 2001. Cadherin engagement regulates Rho family GTPases. J. Biol. Chem. 276:33305–8
- 161. Lauffenburger DA, Griffith LG. 2001. Who's got pull around here? Cell organization in development and tissue engineering. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98:4282–84
- 162. Ryan PL, Foty RA, Kohn J, Steinberg MS. 2001. Tissue spreading on implantable substrates is a competitive outcome of cell-cell vs. cell-substratum adhesivity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98:4323– 27
- 163. Levenberg S, Katz BZ, Yamada KM, Geiger B. 1998. Long-range and selective autoregulation of cell-cell or cell-matrix adhesions by cadherin or integrin ligands. *J. Cell Sci.* 111:347–57
- 164. Grinnell F. 2003. Fibroblast biology in three-dimensional collagen matrices. *Trends Cell Biol.* 13:264–69
- 165. Garcia AJ, Vega MD, Boettiger D. 1999. Modulation of cell proliferation and differentiation through substrate-dependent changes in fibronectin conformation. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 10:785–98
- 166. Baneyx G, Baugh L, Vogel V. 2002. Fibronectin extension and unfolding within cell matrix fibrils controlled by cytoskele-

tal tension. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99:5139–43

- 167. Ohashi T, Kiehart DP, Erickson HP. 1999. Dynamics and elasticity of the fibronectin matrix in living cell culture visualized by fibronectin-green fluorescent protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96:2153–58
- 168. Bershadsky A, Chausovsky A, Becker E, Lyubimova A, Geiger B. 1996. Involvement of microtubules in the control of adhesion-dependent signal transduction. *Curr. Biol.* 6:1279–89
- 169. Liu BP, Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M, Burridge K. 1998. Microtubule depolymerization induces stress fibers, focal adhesions, and DNA synthesis via the GTP-binding protein Rho. *Cell Adhes. Commun.* 5:249–55
- Feldherr CM, Akin D. 1993. Regulation of nuclear transport in proliferating and quiescent cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 205:179– 86
- 171. Yen A, Pardee AB. 1979. Role of nuclear size in cell growth initiation. *Science* 204:1315–17
- 172. Pienta KJ, Coffey DS. 1992. Nuclearcytoskeletal interactions: evidence for physical connections between the nucleus and cell periphery and their alteration by transformation. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 49:357– 65



Figure 1 Transmission of mechanical forces to a cell may occur at cell-matrix and cellcell adhesions. Mechanotransduction at mesenchymal cells relies primarily on cellmatrix contacts, whereas that in epithelial cells makes use of both cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts. All cells may be exposed to shear and hydrostatic stresses from surrounding fluid.



Figure 2 Techniques for the measurement of forces exerted by cells: (A) Contraction of a thin membrane by cells generates microscopic in an elastic surface yields a stress map of the entire cell body. Reproduced with permission from References 17 and 70. (D) Bending of a cantilever measures the force generated at a single area under a cell. Reproduced with permission from Reference 18. (E) Bending of wrinkles in the membrane. Reproduced with permission from Reference 69, (B, C) Translation of beads or patterned markers embedded an array of posts measures force generated at multiple locations across the cell body. Reproduced with permission from Reference 63.